RECEIVED

Apr 16 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY COMMON PLEAS COURT
Honorable Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-001132
Trial Court Case No. 2018-CP-26-00307

Wedgewood Condominium Association, Respondent,

v.

Centex Homes, a Nevada General Partnership; Balfour Beatty Construction, LLC as Successor by Merger to Centex Construction Company, Inc., and Centex Construction, LLC; Crescent Engineering, Inc., Defendants,

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Does S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530's three-year statute of limitations, which begins to run when a reasonable person would be on notice that a claim against another party may exist, bar a lawsuit brought by a homeowners' association twelve years after the association's property manager notified the board of directors that it may have a claim against the developer, such that the trial court erred when it denied Centex's motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict?
- II. Does a finding of gross negligence under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-670, a finding required to circumvent the finality provided by § 15-3-640's statute of repose, require a party to introduce evidence apart from violations of building codes and industry standards, such that the trial court erred when it denied Centex's motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict?
- III. Did the trial court reversibly err when it denied Centex's request for a jury instruction on S.C. Code Ann. § 40-11-270(E), which establishes that South Carolina law does not require subcontractors to possess licenses if supervised by the general contractor, after the plaintiff turned the alleged lack of licenses into a major trial theme?

INTRODUCTION

Wedgewood knew.

It knew it may have a claim against Centex Homes in 2005, when condominiums in the complex reported water intrusion issues from leaking windows. And it certainly knew it may have a claim by 2006, when the issues had become so repetitive that the property manager informed Wedgewood’s board of directors it believed the leaking windows were a design flaw. The property manager “recommended hiring an engineering expert to determine if” the problem originated with Centex, the general contractor and developer.

Wedgewood knew, but it did not act. It did not act on the property manager’s recommendation: the board promised to “notify[] Centex that an expert would be looking at the windows” (R. 2752 (Vol. VI)), but the board never notified Centex and never hired an expert. And it did not act in the years that followed: awash in red ink, the board repeatedly addressed issues in the cheapest way possible. It was not until 2016 that a new property manager approached the board with a similar request: the board should hire an attorney to investigate potential defects. This time, the board followed the recommendation. Wedgewood sued Centex in 2018.

The statute of limitations bars Wedgewood’s decade-long delay in acting on its property manager’s recommendation. The statute, three years on construction defect claims like this, begins to run when a reasonable person would be on notice that “a claim against another party might exist.” This case hardly requires the Court to parse constructive knowledge—the undisputed evidence is that the board (who acts on behalf of the condominium owners) *actually knew* it may have a claim against Centex in 2006 because its *property manager told it so*.

Even if the statute of limitations did not bar this case, the statute of repose would. The statute of repose at the time barred any action related to improvements of real property—regardless

of manifestation—13 years after completion. That 13 years came and went long before the lawsuit: Centex completed construction in 2001, Wedgewood sued in 2018. At trial, Wedgewood argued the gross-negligence exception permitted it to unmoor the finality limitations provided by the statute of repose, but it never introduced evidence permitting a jury to make that gross-negligence finding. The undisputed evidence cut in the other direction. Centex exercised significant care in its development: it had internal and external audits, its field managers performed quality checks throughout the building process, and it worked with subcontractors to ensure commitment to quality. Wedgewood rebutted none of this. Instead, it argued a statute providing that building-code violations may be admissible evidence of gross negligence permitted Wedgewood to prove its case based on code violations alone. This approach finds no support in South Carolina law, and the trial court erred when it accepted it and denied Centex’s motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict.

Finally, while this case never should have been before the jury, once it was, the court clearly erred through its treatment of subcontractors. Despite lacking definitive proof that any subcontractors lacked licenses, Wedgewood latched onto circumstantial evidence and made it a major trial theme. Yet when Centex sought a jury instruction setting the record straight (South Carolina does not require subcontractors to obtain a license)—the Court refused it. This error meant the jury received a skewed perception about the role of contractor licenses in South Carolina.

This lawsuit was brought 17 years after the complex was completed and 11 years after Wedgewood knew it may have a claim. Both the statute of limitations and statute of repose guard against years-untimely claims such as this. The Court should reverse.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Centex is a homebuilding company.¹ Around the turn of the century, it developed and served as the general contractor for the Wedgewood Condominium Complex, a nine-building condominium development in North Myrtle Beach. Centex started developing Wedgewood in the late 1990's; construction was substantially finished and certificates of occupancy issued in early 2001. (R. 2615–16 (Vol. VI)). As the general contractor for the Wedgewood Community, Centex did not actually perform the homebuilding work itself. (R. 1236, line 24–R. 1237, line 1 (Vol. III)). Rather, Centex performed all the management-level work—buying the property, obtaining the permits, interfacing with the municipality, and supervising construction—and hired subcontractors to perform the actual homebuilding work. *See id.*

When construction at Wedgewood finished, Centex turned over management of the community to the Wedgewood Condominium Association. The Association operates through a board of directors: five homeowners who meet quarterly to handle the business for the complex, such as paying the bills and making decisions about repairs to the common areas. (R. 803, lines 23–25 (Vol. II)).

While the board of directors manages the overall affairs of the complex, the day-to-day work falls to a property management company. Unlike the board of directors, the property management company are “professionals” in the industry who perform all daily work for the complex, including repairs and maintenance. The property manager guides the board through its quarterly meeting: the manager sets the agenda for the meetings and “recommend . . . to do the repairs, maintenance that needs to be done.” (R. 806, lines 9–15 (Vol. II)). Thus, the property

¹ For simplicity, the three appellants—Centex Homes, Balfour Beatty Construction, LLC, and Centex Construction, LLC—refer to themselves collectively as “Centex” throughout.

management company is an “extremely important part of the board’s role,” and the board “depend[s] on them” for expertise. (R. 836, lines 2–5 (Vol. II)).

Not long after Wedgewood was completed, the Association encountered financial difficulties. In 2007, for instance, the Association had a \$53,995 deficit that ran its operating fund to a five-figure negative balance—it had to dip into its reserve account to cover the difference. (R. 2782–83 (Vol. VI)). To cover for the financial difficulties, Wedgewood’s board cut some corners on maintenance. For example, a reserve study around that time explained that the Association would need to replace both the outdoor carpets and the waterproofing membrane underneath it because the carpet was glued to the membrane. (R. 2792–93 (Vol. VI)). The board, however, chose not to replace the waterproofing membrane when it replaced the outdoor carpets. (R. 869, lines 14–23 (Vol. II)). In fact, the board still has not replaced the waterproofing membrane to this day. (R. 898, lines 4–16 (Vol. II)). The board also requested that certain items be excluded as line items from its reserve account funding, including recaulking the windows and repainting the buildings’ exterior. (R. 864, lines 3–9 (Vol. II); R. 2796–99 (Vol. VI)). The result of these exclusions was that the board did not have to pay as much money into the reserve account. (R. 866, lines 18–21 (Vol. II)).

Another issue the board ignored was leaking water. In April 2005, a member of the Wedgewood board stated² at a quarterly meeting that “the caulking around the windows is going

² Because it was so long ago, the parties understandably had a hazy recollection regarding the years immediately after Wedgewood’s completion. For instance, in response to a question at trial about the reserve study, a member of the Wedgewood board stated that “This was in 2007. What is that, sixteen years ago? I do not recall all of the specifics of this.” (R. 865, lines 6–8 (Vol. II)). Given this, both parties agreed the board’s meeting minutes were “the best way to recall” the specifics from that time. (R. 866, lines 3–7 (Vol. II)). The meeting minutes summarize the discussion topics from the quarterly board meetings, and a Wedgewood witness stated that the meeting minutes are an accurate summary of those topics. (R. 247, lines 12–20 (Vol. II)).

bad, causing leaks.” (R. 2749 (Vol. VI)). Nine months later, an owner “reported that the master bedroom window is still leaking after being caulked.” (R. 2794 (Vol. VI)). This finally culminated in October 2006, in a report from the building’s property manager, Chuck Gornick, related to repairs in three buildings:

Mr. Gornick stated that it appears that in windows that are double and triple hung, there is a gap at the top of the strip between the windows. It is believed that this is where the leaking is occurring. Mr. Gornick ***recommended having an engineering expert look at these windows to try and determine if this is a Centex problem.*** The Board recommended notifying Centex that an expert would be looking at the windows.

(R. 2752 (Vol. VI)).³ While the Wedgewood board typically listened to its property manager, the board did not do so here. A member of the Wedgewood board, Randall Spencer, “[d[id] not recall that anything further was done about” the property manager’s recommendation to hire an expert. (R. 904, lines 17–22 (Vol. II)). The same windows remain in place today. (*Id.* at line 23–R. 905, line 2).

A decade later, the board had hired a new property manager and four of five board members had turned over. Just as Mr. Gornick had done a decade earlier, the new property manager approached the board about “construction issues that are not the normal maintenance” issues. (R. 838, line 23–R. 839, line 7 (Vol. II)). The property manager recommended that the board speak to an attorney. *Id.* This time, the board listened. It asked the property manager to assist with retaining an attorney, which the property manager did. (R. 839, lines 8–14 (Vol. II)). The attorney, Wedgewood’s counsel in this appeal, retained an expert witness to examine the property. The expert identified several alleged construction defects, including “gaps in the flashing” of the

³ Throughout, unless otherwise noted, all emphasis is added and all internal quotations and citing references are omitted.

windows. (R. 952, line 24–R. 953, line 1 (Vol. II)). Relying on that report, Wedgewood sued Centex on January 18, 2018.

Before trial, Centex moved for summary judgment, arguing the statute of limitations barred all Wedgewood’s claims. (R. 0036–0091 (Vol. I)). Centex supported its motion with the 2006 board minutes about hiring an expert, along with several other pieces of evidence. Centex cited *dozens* of homeowner complaints, from as early as 2004, reporting “water leak[s]” in various units. (R. 0041 (Vol. I)). It cited evidence that, in 2005, other homeowner association presidents requested that Wedgewood “speak with Centex about many of the associations needing the windows fixed.” (R. 0043 (Vol. I)). And it cited evidence that, in 2008, the property manager stated he had notified Centex about water-sealant issues. (R. 0052 (Vol. I)).

The trial court granted Centex’s motion for summary judgment only in part. It dismissed all Wedgewood’s claims related to plumbing and curb ramps as barred by the statute of limitations. In doing so, it relied on the board’s meeting minutes from 2012, which stated that plumbing issues may be “due to poor installation on the builder’s part.” (R. 0001–0007 (Vol. I)). It rejected Centex’s motion for the other claims without explanation.

The case proceeded to trial.⁴ Wedgewood called only three witnesses: Mr. Spencer—the longtime member of the Wedgewood board of directors; the expert who opined on the construction defects, and a damages expert. (R. 661, lines 9–17 (Vol. II)) (listing the three witnesses). Because the statute of repose ran years before Wedgewood sued, Wedgewood needed to prove Centex was grossly negligent in construction of the property. Wedgewood attempted to discharge its burden of proving gross negligence solely through evidence of building code violations, along with lesser evidence of industry standards. It claimed its code-violations-only approach sufficed because of a

⁴ The jury trial took place from May 22–26, 2023.

South Carolina evidentiary rule providing that building code violations may be admissible as evidence of gross negligence. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-670(B) (Supp. 2022) (“the violation of a building code . . . does not constitute per se fraud, gross negligence, or recklessness, but this type of violation may be admissible as evidence of fraud, negligence, gross negligence, or recklessness.”). As Wedgewood stated in closing arguments, it believed the statute of repose was no object because “you can bring a lawsuit after . . . 13 years if—*if you can prove violations of building codes*, and that is what we’ve done here.” (R. 1660, line 23–R. 1661, line 2 (Vol. IV)).

That lined up with its evidence. Wedgewood’s expert opined repeatedly about asserted building code violations from Centex, (R. 1049, lines 1–15 (Vol. III)), but Wedgewood never introduced any evidence about Centex’s practices, supervision, or other evidence indicative of gross negligence. It called no Centex witnesses. It called no witnesses from subcontractors. And it called no witnesses from the city, county, or any other individual who supervised the Wedgewood project.

Comparatively, the jury heard substantial evidence about the care Centex put into the Wedgewood project. The undisputed trial testimony was that Centex had several quality-control steps in place to identify and correct safety issues. Its field managers—on-site leaders at Centex projects—were required to be in *every* room of *every* house *every* day that the home was under construction, a requirement so ingrained in Centex culture that it had its own acronym: EEE. (R. 1234, lines 11–21 (Vol. III)). The field managers also performed “inline inspections” of each home: detailed examinations at each stage of home development to ensure the home was built as promised. (R. 1233, line 10–R. 1234, line 10 (Vol. III)). If the field managers fell down on the job, Centex backstopped their performance through a yearly, weeklong unannounced internal audit of construction operations. (R. 1234, line 22–R. 1236, line 17 (Vol. III)). And just before closing,

Centex hired a third-party quality inspector to examine all aspects of the home. (R. 1243, lines 7–16).

It was also undisputed that Centex had several training programs in place to rectify any safety issues identified. Centex performed monthly technical training with field managers, where it would review construction-related topics including code requirements, industry standard requirements, and product requirements. (R. 1229, line 25–R. 1230, line 17 (Vol. III)). It executed “toolbox talks,” weekly training programs incorporated into production meetings that would discuss issues identified in the field, including safety issues. (R. 1231, line 10–R. 1232, line 5). And it held “tailgate meetings,” biweekly discussions with subcontractors about topics ranging from field concerns to scheduling and safety violations. (R. 1232, lines 9–24).

Despite this multi-layered quality-control process, it was undisputed that there were certain construction deviations at Wedgewood. For instance, Centex’s expert agreed that windows within the complex needed to be repaired. (R. 1319, lines 11–18 (Vol. III)). He also noted, however, that there were real costs to the board’s inaction:

Q. What is the impact of not taking action of a leaking window in 2006 when you are looking at it now 17 years later?

A. I doubt very seriously that this would be an issue today if the recommendation from the property manager had been followed. . . . [I]n the real world, things happen, but it’s not going to happen to the magnitude that it is happening here if it is properly maintained.

(R. 1352, line 18–R. 1353, line 2 (Vol. III)).

Centex also introduced some of the same evidence it cited at summary judgment. In particular, it cross examined Mr. Spencer (Wedgewood’s only fact witness) about the 2006 meeting minutes where the property manager “recommended having an *engineering expert* look at these windows to *try and determine if this is a Centex problem.*” (R. 2752 (Vol. VI)). Mr. Spencer

agreed the property manager told the board about it, *see* (R. 904, lines 5–16 (Vol. II)), and he did not recall the board doing anything in response, (*id.*, lines 17–22).

Centex also introduced evidence about issues that put Wedgewood on notice for the years that followed. The board spent nearly \$90,000 to replace exterior trim in 2010 (R. 2755–2765 (Vol. VI)); at trial, Wedgewood’s expert claimed the exterior trim had prematurely deteriorated, (R. 949, line 22–R. 950, line 16 (Vol. II)). Later in 2010, the board spent \$2,300 to make water intrusion repairs at the front entrances, (R. 2775–76 (Vol. VI))—Wedgewood’s expert later asserted that was a defect, too, (R. 1026, lines 13–15 (Vol. III); R. 1028, line 23–R. 1029, line 6). Across 2013 and 2014, Wedgewood spent more than \$12,000 to repair rotted flooring at the front walkways. (R. 1366, line 14–R. 1367, line 11 (Vol. III); R. 2777–78 (Vol. VI)). And in early 2012, the board spent \$12,595 to replace damaged drywall at the exterior walkways, (R. 2766–69 (Vol. VI)), which, sure enough, is something Wedgewood’s expert faulted Centex for. (R. 947, lines 2–5 (Vol. II)).

At the close of Wedgewood’s case, Centex moved for a directed verdict. It argued both the statute of limitations and statute of repose barred Wedgewood’s claims. (R. 1203, line 1–R. 1204, line 6 (Vol. III)). In response, Wedgewood conceded it had a statute of repose problem, but claimed its “expert testified extensively that there were building code violations, manufacturers’ specification violations, and standard industry violations. All of which is what I would call the *escape valve* in the statute of repose.” (R. 1209, line 21–R. 1210, line 1). The judge denied Centex’s motion. (R. 1211, lines 16–18).

In closing arguments, Wedgewood reiterated the building-code-focused view of the case. It mentioned “building code” no less than twenty-three times in its closing and rebuttal argument. It led its evidentiary argument by stating “It is overwhelming that the defendant built a building in *violation of the building codes*.” (R. 1616, lines 6–8 (Vol. IV)). And it used building codes as the

sole basis to circumvent the statute of repose, arguing the statute of repose was inapplicable because “you can bring a lawsuit after a certain period of time after 13 years if—if you can prove *violations of building codes*, and that is what we’ve done here.” (R. 1660, line 24–R. 1661, line 2; *see* R. 1625, lines 12–14 (“The law allows that when you *violate building codes*, there is no limitation on that.”)).

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