THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

APR 17 2024

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge
Case No. 2018-CP-26-00307

Appellate Case No. 2023-001132

Wedgewood Condominium Association, Respondent

vs.

Centex Homes, a Nevada General Partnership; Balfour Beatty Construction, LLC as
successor by merger to Centex Construction Company, Inc. and Centex Construction, LLC;
Crescent Engineering, Inc., Defendants.

OF WHICH:

Centex Homes, a Nevada General Partnership; Balfour Beatty Construction, LLC as
successor by merger to Centex Construction Company, Inc. and Centex Construction, LLC,

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

¹³ In fact, the Court noted that Centex's experts admitted simple negligence (R. p. 1574, lines 1-9). The Court stated: "So you have to admitted negligence -- no question." (R. p. 1574, lines 24-25).

¹⁴ Centex's counsel waived his motion for directed verdict by these statements to the Court.

Court. (R. p. 1563, lines 20-25). Centex's counsel waived the Statute of Repose and Statute of Limitations defenses by failing to raise them and obtain a definitive ruling by the trial court.

II. CENTEX FAILED TO PRESERVE ALL THE ERRORS IT NOW APPEALS.

The transcript of record clearly reveals that Centex did not make a motion for directed verdict on the Statute of Limitations, nor did Centex obtain a ruling by the Court on its motion for directed verdict in regard to the Statute of Repose. (R. pp. 1563-1606). South Carolina law requires counsel to repeatedly request a ruling to preserve it for this Court to consider it. *State v. Fletcher*, 363 S.C. 221, 609 S.E.2d 572, 591 (Ct. App. 2005); *Creech v. South Carolina Wildlife and Marine Resources Dept.*, 328 S.C. 24, 491 S.E.2d 571 (1997) (All issues must be raised and ruled upon by the trial judge).

In South Carolina there are four requirements for error preservation on appeal. They are:

1. The issue must be raised by the appellant.
2. The issue must be raised in a timely manner.
3. The issue must be raised with specificity.
4. The issue must be raised and ruled upon by the trial court.

Here, Centex raised the Statute of Repose in its directed verdict motion but did not raise the Statute of Limitations. (R. pp. 1563-1606). As to the Statute of Repose, it was raised timely and with some specificity, but was never ruled on by the trial court and ultimately waived by Centex's counsel. (R. p. 1603, lines 1-25). As to the Statute of Limitations, it can be found nowhere in Centex's motion for directed verdict and as a result this issue is not properly preserved for review by this Court. In South Carolina, preserving issues for appellate review is a fundamental and necessary requirement for appellate review. South Carolina appellate courts have never recognized the plain error rule. *Kennedy v. S.C. Retirement System*, 349 S.C. 531, 564 S.E.2d 322 (S.C. 2001).

In South Carolina, to preserve an issue for appellate review, the issue must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court. If an issue is not ruled on, counsel must continually request a ruling. This is the only way to preserve an issue for appellate review. Here, Centex raised only one issue, the Statute of Repose, and failed to raise the Statute of Limitations in its directed verdict motion. (R. p. 1563, lines 1-25; p. 1564, line 1) As Chief Judge Alex Sanders so aptly stated about error preservation: “Appellate courts, like well-behaved children, do not speak unless spoken to and do not answer questions they are not asked.” *State v. Austin*, 306 S.C. 9, 19, 409 S.E.2d 811, 817 (Ct. App. 1991). Centex did not ask the trial court for a ruling on the Statute of Repose and did not argue the Statute of Limitations, thus, those matters have been abandoned.

It is axiomatic that to consider any issue on appeal and to have it reviewed, it must be raised in the directed verdict motion after a party’s case has closed and it must be renewed at the close of all the evidence and ruled on by the Court. This Centex did not do at trial. See *Evans v. Wabash Life Ins. Co.*, 247 S.C. 464, 148 S.E.2d 153 (1966); *Whaley v. CSX Transportation, Inc.*, 362 S.C. 456, 609 S.E.2d 286, 290 (2005).

A timely and proper directed verdict motion is essential to any appeal based on the sufficiency of the evidence to support the jury’s verdict. *Barber v. Citizens & Southern National Bank*, 268 S.C. 16, 231 S.E.2d 295 (1977). On appeal to this Court, Centex is limited to the specific grounds raised at trial. *Connolly v. People’s Life Ins. Co. of SC*, 299 S.C. 348, 384 S.E.2d 738 (1989). The failure to state and argue specific grounds at trial is not excused because earlier comments by the trial court indicated it may deny the motion. The trial court must in fact deny the motion on the record. *Sierra v. Skelton*, 307 S.C. 217, 414 S.E. 169 (Ct. App. 1991). Trial counsel must insist on putting the grounds for a directed verdict motion on the record and obtain a ruling by the trial court. *Vaughn v. City of Anderson*, 300 S.C. 55, 386 S.E.2d 297 (Ct. App. 1989). If the trial judge mentions new issues

or grounds in ruling on a directed verdict motion, a party must specifically raise the new matter to the trial court in an order to raise it on appeal. *Mize v. Blue Ridge Ry. Co.*, 219 S.C. 119, 64 S.E.2d 253 (1951).

In sum, Centex' entire argument about the Statute of Limitations was never preserved for the record because it was never properly raised at the directed verdict motion stage of the trial. As to the Statute of Repose motion which Centex made (R. p. 1563), the trial court never ruled on it and Centex's counsel never specifically requested a ruling nor received one prior to the case being submitted to the jury. Thus, without a ruling on the record by the trial court, Centex is prohibited from raising the Statute of Repose or Statute of Limitations as a ground for appeal.

III. CENTEX DID NOT OBJECT TO THE JURY CHARGE AND FAILED TO PRESERVE ITS ARGUMENT.

The trial court, after going over the jury charge with counsel for both parties, was asked by Plaintiff's counsel to charge the following: "I charge you that you may consider whether a subcontractor is unlicensed in reaching a decision." The Court: "No, that's not appropriate. It is a comment on the facts, and I'm not charging it. (R. p. 1592, line 11).

Thereafter the trial court charged the jury the law of the case. (R. pp. 1663-1682). After the jury was excused, the Court then asked: "Any questions or additions to charge from the Plaintiff?" (R. p. 1683, lines 1-3).

Mr. Connell: I think a spoliation of evidence charge is acceptable based on the defendant's argument about the one building code document that they had. Everything else was lost, but they have the one. And the other thing is you just sent back 15.

The Court: Oh, I know that. They go back there until I bring the three out, and then we send them for deliberations. When someone goes in with all the evidence, the three come out.

Mr. Connell: Are you going to hold them in another room or ask them –

The Court: I'm going to release them. I'm going to release them. I think this jury will come to a verdict.

Mr. Connell: Okay. Thank you, ma'am.

Mr. Hildebrand: Nothing from the Defendant. (R. p. 1683, line 20).

Centex now objects to the jury charge and argues that the trial judge should have charged the contractor licensing statute. It is well settled in South Carolina that the failure to object to a jury charge after the charge has been read to the jury is a waiver and does not preserve this alleged error for review. If Centex's counsel wanted to object to an instruction to the jury, he must have done so before the jury retired to consider its verdict or the objection is waived. See *Thomas-McCain, Inc. v. Siter*, 268 S.C. 193, 232 S.E.2d 728 (1977) (A party who fails to call error to attention of trial judge at conclusion of charge and in the absence of jury cannot later complain.). Failure to object to a charge makes it the law of the case. *Crocker v. Barr*, 295 S.C. 195, 367 S.E.2d 471 (Ct. App. 1988), overruled on other grounds by *Crocker v. Barr*, 305 S.C. 406, 409 S.E.2d 368 (1991). See also *Toyota of Florence, Inc. v. Lynch*, 314 S.C. 257, 442 S.E.2d 611 (1994) (Where there is no objection to a jury charge, it is the law of the case.); *Orangeburg Sausage Co. v. Cincinnati Ins. Co.*, 316 S.C. 331, 450 S.E.2d 66 (Ct. App. 1994) (Failure to object to an improper jury instruction leaves issue unpreserved for appeal); *State v. Johnson*, 315 S.C. 485, 445 S.E. 2d 637 (1994) (Johnson failed to object to the jury charge on circumstantial evidence; therefore, any issue on whether it violates due process was not preserved for appeal.).

In sum, in order to properly object to a jury instruction, Centex's counsel must have timely stated which portion of the instruction is objectionable and must specify the grounds for his objection prior to jury deliberation. See *Bellamy v. Payne*, 304 S.C. 179, 403 S.E.2d 326 (Ct. App. 1991); Rule 51, SCRPC. Rule 20, SCRPC.

In this case, Centex's counsel made no objection after the jury was charged and cannot now for the first time on appeal argue the trial court made an error. The trial court must be given the opportunity to correct any errors. Centex clearly failed to preserve the alleged error, and even if it had preserved the error, any error was harmless as jury instructions should be considered as a whole, and if as a whole they are free from error, any isolated portions which may be misleading did not constitute reversible error. *Washington v. Whitaker*, 317 S.C. 108, 451 S.E.2d 894 (1994); *Roberts v. Hunter*, 310 S.C. 364, 426 S.E.2d 797 (1993) (a jury charge which is substantially correct and adequately covers the law does not require reversal).

In conclusion, Centex failed to timely object to the jury charge and as a result waived its objection and thus failed to preserve the error for review by this Court.

IV. IF THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS WAS PROPERLY RAISED AND PRESERVED BY APPELLANTS, IT WAS AN ISSUE FOR THE JURY.

South Carolina's appellate courts have consistently held the question of when a statute of limitations begins to run is one left to the jury. *Dunbar v. Carlson*, 341 S.C. 261, 269, 533 S.E.2d 913, 917 (Ct. App. 2000). (“[G]enerally, statute of limitations issues are for the jury, rather than the court, to resolve.”) Specifically, the question of when a plaintiff discovered, or should have discovered the alleged harm is for the jury to decide because it is an objective question. The presence of conflicting testimony regarding the time discovery should have occurred necessarily requires the jury's resolution. *Brown v. Finger*, 240 S.C. 102, 113, 124 S.E.2d 781, 786 (1962). (“The burden of establishing the bar of the statute of limitations rests upon the one interposing it...and, where the testimony is conflicting upon the question, it becomes an issue for the jury to decide.”).

In this case, assuming *arguendo* that the statute of limitations argument was properly preserved (it was not), the evidence presented by Randall Spencer, one of the original purchasers of a condominium at Wedgewood and a Board member, is enlightening. Spencer had served on the

Board of Wedgewood Condominium Association for over twenty-one years and repeatedly testified that the only issues he was aware of in his twenty-one years were maintenance issues and those issues were dealt with at every meeting the Board had and most of the issues were routine maintenance. (R. p. 876, lines 1-25). Spencer's answer both on direct and cross examination was "If there is maintenance issues, and there always are, we act on those maintenance issues" (R. p. 888, lines 23-24). He further testified that the Wedgewood Board of Directors fixed what we needed to fix; painted where we needed to paint; and painted the trim as needed. (R. p. 891, lines 11-20). Finally, on cross-examination, Spencer stated that the first time he and the Board knew of the original construction defects was in 2016, (R. p. 908, lines 17-20).

In that same vein, Ross Clements, Wedgewood Condominium Association's forensic architect, stated: "I don't think anyone would reasonably think you would go from a small gap being described at a window and that would be translated into a full investigation the way – like what I was hired to do." (R. p. 1090, lines 20-23). And that he (Clements) didn't see any evidence that would have been correlated for the Board of Director's meetings to the full investigation that he was hired to do. (R. p. 1091, lines 8-13). Clements' extensive and detailed testimony described hidden defects such as rotten wood, roof decks not protected, shingles not adequate, framing and sheathing damage, life safety issues at the staircases throughout the buildings, guardrail post defects, inadequate framing in attics, shear walls not designed per engineering plans, floor assemblies that were never waterproofed, vapor barriers improperly installed and life and safety issues at ramps that were too steep and had no handrails. (R. pp. 945-1091).

Clements' testimony, along with the admissions at trial from Defendants' own expert, Robert Carter, that there were hidden building code violations, clearly presented a jury issue of whether the

statute of limitations had run and it was thus for the jury to decide if the statute had run on Wedgewood.

See *Stoneledge at Lake Keowee Owners' Assoc. v. IMK Development Co., LLC*, 435 S.C. 176, 866 S.E.2d 577, 578 (2021), where the court explicitly acknowledged that although defendants in that case may have had a colorable argument as to the running of the statute of limitations, this Court nonetheless affirmed the jury's verdict.¹⁵ (“Application of both the basic three-year limitations period and the discovery rule in any given case can present factual issues for a jury to resolve. ... [We are constrained by our standard of review and conclude that under the facts of this case, there was a jury issue as to whether the statute of limitations had expired by the time the action was commenced against [the defendant]”). In *Stoneledge*, the jury found in favor of the homeowners after the trial court denied defendants' motion for directed verdict based on the statute of limitations.

Here, it is undisputed in the transcript of record that Centex made no such directed verdict motion as to the Statute of Limitations at the close of the evidence. Further, Wedgewood's argument is the very same argument Centex made in another Barefoot case to United States District Court Judge Wooten. See *Centex Homes v. S.C. State Plastering*, Case No. 4:08-cv-2495-TLW, 2010 WL 2998519 (D.S.C. July 27, 2010). Significantly, that case involved the Edgewater Condominium Association which is one of the condominium projects that Centex was sued for in the Barefoot Landing project. After Centex settled *Edgewood*, it brought a construction defect lawsuit against South Carolina State Plastering, LLC, Carolina Drywall & Interior, Inc. and Ferst Plastering, Inc. for monies paid to Edgewater HOA for construction defects. Ferst, Carolina Drywall and South Carolina State Plastering promptly moved for summary judgment based on the statute of limitations. Allegedly, the buildings were completed in 2001 and 2002. While Centex and its employees

¹⁵ In *Stoneledge*, the developer made a motion for directed verdict based on the statute of limitations. In this case, Centex did not do so.

discovered water damage in two of the buildings in 2006, it did not bring suit until 2008, some six to seven years after the buildings were completed. Centex and its attorneys argued vigorously against the statute of limitations. Centex cited the case of *Santee Portland Cement Co. v. Daniel Int'l. Corp.*, 384 S.E.2d 693 (1989). In *Santee* plaintiff had a cement storage complex installed in 1965 but didn't discover latent defects until 1980 when a storage bin collapsed killing two people. Apparently latent steel reinforcement rods had been improperly spaced and tied together. The defendants moved for summary judgment. The South Carolina Supreme Court concluded that the evidence introduced at trial went to the reasonableness of plaintiff's action which was an issue to be decided by a jury.

Of additional significance is that the same lawyers who represented Centex as a plaintiff in *Centex Homes v. S.C. State Plastering*, Case No. 4:08-cv-2495-TLW, 2010 WL 2998519 (D.S.C. July 27, 2010) argued in this case that the statute of limitations has expired. A party cannot take a position in direct conflict with one taken in related litigation. Judicial estoppel precludes Centex from doing so in this case as unquestionably it had multiple pending Barefoot Resort construction lawsuits with the same legal issues at stake. *Hayne Federal Credit Union v. Bailey*, 327 S.C. 242, 489 S.E.2d 472 (1997) (A party who asserts a position may not change it because its interests have changed.). Respondent asserts this in an additional sustaining ground to affirm the verdict.

The *Stoneledge* case has recently been followed by *Walbeck v. The I'On Company, LLC*, 426 S.C. 494, 827 S.E. 2d 348 (2023) in which the Supreme Court of South Carolina has reiterated that the statute of limitations defenses are generally issues for the jury to decide. In *Walbeck*, the Supreme Court stated: "While the jury certainly could have accepted the 2005 date argued by developers, and ultimately embraced by the court of appeals, we believe the jury's contrary finding is supported by the evidence."

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